IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

0

CASE NO. 80,366

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL J. MINERVA Interim Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 092487

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

JOHN S. SOMMER Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0862126

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Lightbourne was convicted of first-degree murder in the Circuit court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Marion County (R. 1436), and was sentenced to death (R. 1500, 1509-07). This Court affirmed on direct appeal. <u>Lighbourne v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983).

Mr. Lightbourne filed a Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion on May 31, 1985. The motion was denied, and this Court affirmed. <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985). Mr. Lightbourne filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in federal district court. That petition was denied, and the denial was affirmed on appeal. <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 829 F.2d 1012 (11th Cir. 1987).

On January 30, 1989, Mr. Lightbourne filed a second Rule 3.850 motion. That same date, Mr. Lightbourne also filed a habeas corpus petition in this Court. The Rule 3.850 motion was denied. However, this Court reversed the denial and remanded for an evidentiary hearing, but denied habeas corpus relief. Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989).

Evidentiary hearings were conducted in the circuit court in 1990. On April 17, 1991, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to reopen the evidentiary hearing, which was granted. An additional evidentiary hearing was conducted. The circuit court denied relief on June 12, 1992, and Mr. Lightbourne appealed. After the issuance of <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 112 S. Ct. 2926 (1992), Mr. Lightbourne filed a third Rule 3.850 motion. On February 1, 1993, this Court granted Mr. Lightbourne's request to relinquish

jurisdiction to allow the circuit court to consider this third Rule 3.850 motion. On March 15, 1993, the circuit court denied relief. This appeal, involving both this Court's prior remand and the third Rule 3.850 motion, followed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 17, 1981, Nancy O'Farrell had been discovered shot to death in her home at the Ocala Stud Farm. Over the next ten days, law enforcement investigated her death, but apparently had no viable suspects.

On January 24, 1981, Mr. Lightbourne was arrested on a charge of carrying a concealed weapon and placed in the Marion County Jail. On January 26, probable cause was found, and the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Lightbourne.

On January 28, 1981, Detective Fred La Torre of the Marion County Sheriff's Office, lead detective in the O'Farrell homicide case, interviewed Cathleen Gifford, an employee of the Ocala Stud Farm. Detective La Torre asked Ms. Gifford whether she knew if any of the farm workers carried weapons:

> Q Do you know of any other people on the farm, any other workers out there that might tend to have kinda of a violent nature, or maybe carrying weapons out there that you've seen, heard about.

A Most of em carry weapons; in fact the man I used to go out with, he's in jail now for that, cause they caught him; he was gettin pretty violent too.

- Q Who is that?
- A Eon Lightburn.
- Q How long has he been in jail?

A I think they picked him up Sunday morning.

Q What is his name, Eon?

A Um hum. IAN.

Q Lightburg.

A LIGHTBOURNE.

Q And you think he was arrested last Sunday?

A Um hum.

Q Here in town?

A Um hum.

(Def. Ex. 6).

The very next day, January 29, jail inmate Theodore Chavers was transferred into the same cell as Mr. Lightbourne. According to his trial testimony, Chavers had been in another cell but was moved into a cell with Mr. Lightbourne on January 29, 1981, because he asked to be in a cell where he could watch television (R. 1107, 1121). There, Chavers and Mr. Lightbourne had conversations (R. 1107), and because Mr. Lightbourne "knew too much" about the homicide, Chavers contacted Detective La Torre of the Marion County Sheriff's Office (R. 1113). Chavers testified that he had not been promised anything (R. 1124), that everything he knew about the offense came from Mr. Lightbourne (R. 1144), and that he had not met with prosecutors except to discuss his own pending charges (R. 1165). Chavers further testified that he was released from jail on February 10, 1981, only nineteen days before his jail term was to expire (R. 1119). Although he had

three other charges pending when he was released, Chavers testified that he was released on recognizance on one of those charges, that he had posted \$5,000 bond on the others, and that trial was still pending on all three of those charges (R. 1165).

The information the State provided to defense counsel pretrial was consistent with Chavers' trial testimony. In transcribed statements Chavers made to Detective La Torre, Chavers recited information he had supposedly heard from Mr. Lightbourne (Def. Exs. 4, 5), and stated that Detective La Torre had not talked to Chavers before Chavers' conversation with Mr. Lightbourne (Def. Ex. 5, p. 3). Likewise, Chavers' account at his deposition was that Mr. Lightbourne had made incriminating statements which prompted Chavers to contact Detective La Torre. Although trial counsel attempted to explore Chavers' relationship with the police and motivation for testifying at depositions and during pretrial hearings, Chavers' account remained consistent: no agency relationships, no promises, no rewards, no coaching. Mr. Lightbourne's trial attorneys testified that Chavers' testimony was the key evidence leading to Mr. Lightbourne's conviction and death sentence (See PC-R. 49-50 [Testimony of James Burke]; PC-R. 280-81 [Testimony of Ronald Fox]).

After Mr. Lightbourne's trial, Chavers tried to trade on his cooperation in Mr. Lightbourne's case, repeatedly writing to the State Attorney for assistance with his then current sentence. Those letters revealed:

I have lied to help get what you wanted, that black nigger on death row so please help me.

(Def. Ex. 7).

Sir, everybody in prison know I have a guy on death row.

(Def. Ex. 7).

[W]hile I was in jail Ronald Fox talk with me about the man I lied on and help your office put on death row. Sir, Fox gave me his card in case I wanted to change my mind and tell the truth on his defendant. . . [W]ell I got busted at Lowell 6/1/85 and they was suppose to take fox accused defendant to the chair. Mr. Gill, everyone said that happen to me because of that, it look like I'll never got [sic] out of prison anyway so I hope your office never need me in that case and [or] I'll tell the truth and take what ever [happens] after that.

(Def. Ex. 7).

At the evidentiary hearing, Chavers testified that when he was in the jail cell with Mr. Lightbourne, an inmate named Richard Carnegia was also in the same cell (PC-R. 443). Mr. Carnegia testified at the evidentiary hearing that he knew Chavers was a snitch when he entered the cell in late January or early February of 1981:

Q. Did you know that Mr. Chavers was a snitch or a government informant?

A. Yes, I had heard.

Q. That was his reputation on the street?

A. Yes.

Q. And you knew that at the time you entered the cell in January or February of 1981?

A. Yes, sir.

(PC-R. 553).

Mr. Carnegia feared Chavers trying to pin charges on him (PC-R. 555). Mr. Carnegia testified at the hearing that Chavers often supplied information to Mr. Bray (PC-R. 554), an Ocala police officer (PC-R. 380). Chavers, in fact, told Mr. Carnegia how to get himself out of jail:

A. He asked me did I want to try to get myself out.

Q. And what did you say?

A. I said: "What I have to do?" And he said that just tell them that you heard Lightbourn say that he killed somebody.

(PC-R. 558). Mr. Carnegia also overheard Mr. Chavers attempt to recruit Mr. Emanuel, another cellmate, to do the same thing (PC-R. 561). Mr. Carnegia refused Chavers' offer. However, Mr. Carnegia remained in the same cell, and he was pulled out once to converse with Chavers, a police officer, and another inmate about Mr. Lightbourne (PC-R. 564). Mr. Carnegia told the officer that Mr. Lightbourne had denied committing the offense (PC-R. 597).

Mr. Carnegia specifically remembered Chavers trying to elicit information from Mr. Lightbourne and Mr. Lightbourne not knowing details of the killing:

Q. And was Mr. Lightbourn answering?

A. Told him he didn't know nothing about what he was talking about.

\* \* \*

Q. Let me ask you maybe an easier question. Do you recall how and in what manner Mr. Chavers was asking Mr. Lightbourn questions?

A. Like in a friendly manner, like "You can trust me," you know. I never heard him [Lightbourne] saying anything.

(PC-R. 573).

Q. During the time that you were in the cell did you ever hear Mr. Lightbourn admit to the O'Farrell murder?

A. No, sir.

(PC-R. 559).

Mr. Carnegia even told law enforcement that Mr. Lightbourne denied involvement in the offense:

A. That I never heard him say anything to say that he had anything to do with the crime.

Q. Okay. Did you tell the officer that, in fact, you had heard Mr. Lightbourn deny that he had anything to do with the crime?

A. Yes.

Q. You did tell them that?

A. Yes, sir.

(PC-R. 597).

On January 23, 1989, Mr. Chavers signed an affidavit which stated:

I, THEODORE CLEVELAND CHAVERS, having been duly sworn, hereby depose and say:

1. My name is Theodore Cleveland Chavers and my nickname is "Uncle Nut". I was made to testify against Ian Lightbourne at his trial in 1981.

2. In 1981, I was very familiar to the local law enforcement officers because of numerous arrests and charges made against me in Ocala. When I was in the Marion County Jail in January of 1981, I was placed in a cell with Ian Lightbourne and several other inmates.

3. Shortly after being put in the cell with Lightbourne, Detective La Torre took me out and talked to me at length. He made it clear to me that it was in my best interest to find out all I could from Lightbourne about the O'Farrell murder. I in fact did this and then several charges pending against me were dropped.

4. Theophilus Carson, who was also in the cell with Lightbourne and me, worked for the state too. Although Lightbourne never told any of us that he killed the O'Farrell woman, the cops got Carson to say that at the trial by dropping his charges. I know that he lied on Lightbourne to get out of trouble.

5. The officers pressed me for details about what Lightbourne was saying even though there was not anything really to say. I told them I didn't want to get involved since they had other evidence but with all they had on me they could make me do what they wanted.

6. The state attorneys went over and over what they wanted me to say at the trial. They told me the things they wanted me to say to the jury at Lightbourne's trial. They came at me and rehearsed everything I should say.

7. When the investigators involved me in this case, they made it clear that if I scratched their backs, they'd scratch mine but if I didn't cooperate, they could bring me even more trouble than I already have. In fact, what really happened in my conversations with Lightbourne and the way they made me say it was very different. I knew I had to make things look good for the way they wanted the investigation to go.

8. Before the trial, I heard that the O'Farrell family had offered a \$10,000.00 reward for anyone who helped with their case. I called the O'Farrell's to collect and they agreed to meet with me, but they didn't show up but the cops did instead. They gave me \$200.00 and told me to leave the O'Farrell family alone and not to talk to anyone about this or the case.

9. In the past, I refused to discuss this matter with anyone because the police wanted it to stay quiet. They told me to keep my mouth shut and I knew they'd give me heat if I didn't. Because I had been in so much trouble in the past, the police would make me cooperate with them whenever they wanted me to, just like in Lightbourne's case.

10. I am now willing to discuss these things because I no longer have any pending charges which could be held over my head.

(Def. Ex. 10; PC-R. 1396-99, 2441-44). Mr. Chavers testified that his signature was on the affidavit (PC-R. 799).

On January 30, 1989, one week after signing the affidavit, Chavers had a conversation with Assistant State Attorney James Phillips. This conversation was tape-recorded and later transcribed. In the conversation, Chavers stated:

> JP [Phillips]: We understand there's some affidavit you might have signed on the Lightborn [sic] case. You know anything about that? Did some people from some lawyers office come and talk to you about Lightborn [sic]? We just need to know what that is. We haven't got a copy of it yet. Do you remember signing anything?

TC [Chavers]: Uh huh.

- JP: Was it true or was it not true? You know you got to go to
- TC: I rekon yeah, man. I don't know nothin' been happenin', man, I'm serious, yeah.
- JP: Well some man from the rep- lawyer from Mr. Lightborn [sic] has told us
- TC: Uh huh.
- JP: That you did an affidavit saying

- TC: Right.
- JP: That everything you said during Lightborn [sic] was a lie. Is that correct, it's a lie? Or is it not correct?
- TC: Everything was a lie?
- JP: Yeah, it said that the things you said that Lightborn [sic] told you was a lie.
- TC: Yeah. Yeah, well I, the only thing I remember him saying was you know, uh, uh, I heard him talk talk you know, talkin' you know, 'bout what happened at the horse farm and stuff. Then I read the paper that he ...
- JP: Uh huh. <u>So you made up all that stuff</u> <u>that you testified before Judge Swaggart</u> <u>before at the trial</u>?
- TC: <u>Yes sir. Besides that, all of that was</u> just a lie.
- JP: It was.
- TC: Yes sir.

\* \* \*

- JP: Okay. So you've let Mr. Lightborn [sic] sit up there on death row for the last nine years
- TC: I haven't, no I haven't
- JP: Based on some lies
- TC: I haven't
- JP: Mr. Chavers?
- TC: I haven't, I haven't I was Why was it me? Why why why did it have to be - <u>I</u> <u>never said Lightborn [sic] killed</u> <u>anybody</u>.
- JP: No. I know you didn't see 'em. No, what we were wondering about was the things that he told you, that you

repeated in court; were those true or not true? That's what we needed to know. The things that that were said during his trial

- TC: Uh
- JP: You remember, a long time ago. The things that he told you in the cell
- TC: That's what I was tellin' the lady.
- JP: Pardon me?
- TC: That's what I was tellin' the lady.
- JP: Okay.
- TC: But see everybody under the impre- hey, I didn't - this guy happens come kinda way come up with the gun. You know, come up with the other stuff they talkin' 'bout 'bout 'bout- I don't know nothin' 'bout
- JP: <u>Well he did the killin', there's no</u> <u>question about that, Theodore, that</u>
- TC: <u>I don't know</u>.
- JP: What happened is, you know he had the jewelry in his pr- the property that belonged to Mrs. O'Farrell
- TC: Sure, I got one now.
- JP: <u>The gun that they took away from him is</u> the gun that killed Mrs. O'Farrell.
- TC: <u>I wouldn't know</u>.

(PC-R2. 101-04) (emphasis added).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Lightbourne proffered the testimony of Ray Taylor, a jail inmate who was in the same cell as Chavers during the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Taylor had written his attorney a letter explaining that Chavers had said that Mr. Lightbourne did not commit the offense and that Chavers' trial testimony was not true (PC-R. 1259). Mr. Lightbourne requested that Mr. Taylor be produced as a witness (PC-R. 1258), but the court denied the request (PC-R. 1259).<sup>1</sup>

In addition to the presentation of Chavers' affidavit and his other statements, Mr. Lightbourne attempted to present Chavers' live testimony. When he initially took the stand, Chavers appeared to have great difficult understanding questions (see, e.g., PC-R. 438-83). The court then inquired about whether Chavers was under the influence of drugs or alcohol and whether Chavers' recent car accident had affected his mental processes (PC-R. 492, et seq.), and order Chavers to remain in jail overnight to improve his condition (PC-R. 526). The next day, the court ordered Chavers evaluated by a mental health expert to determine Chavers' competency as a witness (PC-R. 608). The expert reported that Chavers was not competent to testify (PC-R. 636), and the court ordered Chavers to remain in custody until the next session of the hearing to be held on July 2, 1990 (PC-R. 652-53). At the July 2 hearing, experts reported Chavers was not competent to testify (PC-R. 679-80), and so his testimony was deferred until October 8, 1990. At the October 8 hearing, Chavers could not remember anything, including testifying at Mr. Lightbourne's trial (<u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, PC-R. 742-66, 799-871). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mr. Taylor was transferred out of the jail to a state prison just 15 minutes before Mr. Lightbourne requested his presence as a witness (PC-R. 1256). Mr. Lightbourne also requested to present the testimony of Mr. Taylor's attorney and her investigator regarding the letter Mr. Taylor had written (PC-R. 1257).

court believed Chavers' memory was "fine," and said to Chavers, "I believe you know something" (PC-R. 767). The next day, when Chavers continued to profess a lack of memory, the court held him in contempt (PC-R. 950). The court ultimately determined that Chavers was unavailable as a witness (PC-R. 1255, 1259).

Mr. Lightbourne also presented the affidavit of Jack R. Hall at the evidentiary hearing. That affidavit states:

I, JACK R. HALL, having been duly sworn, hereby depose and say:

1. My name is Jackie R. Hall and I currently reside at the Marion Correctional Institute in Lowell, Florida. I am 48 years old.

2. In January and February of 1981, I was incarcerated at the Marion County Jail. I was in a cell with Ian Lightbourne the entire time I was at the jail.

3. Because Lightbourne spoke with a thick accent, he had a real hard time communicating with other inmates. I was the only inmate at the jail during this time that Lightbourne would talk to.

4. When Lightbourne was first brought to the Marion County Jail, he was placed in the same cell with me. Shortly after Lightbourne's arrival, three trustees were moved into our cell. One of these trustees was "Nut" Chavers, but I did not and do not know the name of the others. Neither Lightbourne nor I ever talked with them. They huddled in the corner talking together for awhile and then called for the guards to come and let them back out. Lightbourne never spoke to any of these guys the whole time they were in our cell.

5. These same trustees were placed in our cell several more times, and acted the same way each time. They would huddle up and whisper together like they were making a plan, and they would laugh a lot, too. A few times I overheard the things they were saying - they were talking about Lightbourne and a murder case. I specifically remember the guy called "Nut" talking about what they were going to tell the cops about Lightbourne. They said that they were going to say that Lightbourne told them all about the murder of the O'Farrell woman. I also heard them talking about getting out of jail and heard "Nut" telling the others that he had gotten out this way before.

Long after I was transferred back 6. to the state prison system, I learned that at least one of the trustees who had been in the cell with me and Lightbourne - "Nut" Chavers - testified at Lightbourne's trial and said that Lightbourne had told him that he did the murder. I knew when I heard this that it was a lie -- Lightbourne and I were together the whole time, in the same cell, and neither of us spoke to those guys who were put in with Like I said, I had heard "Nut" and the us. others talking about what they were going to tell the cops, but I never thought they would or could actually get up in a court and say this like it was true.

7. I didn't know Ian Lightbourne before I met him in the Marion County Jail, and never saw him again after he left. I wouldn't say we were friends - I am about twenty years older than Lightbourne, white, and born and raised in Ocala, so we didn't really have a lot in common. We were cellmates and were together for about 24 hours a day for quite a while and so we naturally got to talking. I just couldn't sit here and let any man die because of a bunch of lies.

(PC-R. 1401-02). The circuit court would not admit the Hall affidavit substantively even though Mr. Hall is dead<sup>2</sup> (PC-R.

1372).

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Mr. Lightbourne proffered evidence concerning his efforts to locate Mr. Hall and the fact that after locating Mr. Hall, but before talking with him, he died. Mr. Hall's death certificate was entered into evidence (PC-R. 2399).

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