IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 28 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

ILE] SID J. WHITE

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No.: 80,366

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

necessarily -- or first degree not murder is not per se cruel and unusual violation the and in of Eighth Amendment, but I would say that Florida now has a mandatory death penalty, as all presumptive -- as all murders in Florida ----first degree murders presumptively get the penalty of death to Eighth Amendment contrary the standards which were to insure the reliability of the determination that death is the appropriate punishment in a specific case. For that I'd cite Woodson versus North Carolina, 428 U.S. 304, 96 Supreme Court 29,780, [sic] 49 Legal Edition Second 944. In other words, if the Court understands the argument --

[Court]: I do; I understand. That motion is denied. . . .

(OR 1448-51).³⁴

34

During closing arguments, the prosecutor argued as following concerning HAC:

Next, that the crime for which the Defendant to be sentenced is was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. Now, the Court will tell you, Ladies and Gentlemen, that heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil. It will tell you that atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile, and it will tell you that cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain, utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of others; or pitiless. Now, note, Laides and Gentlemen, that the instruction is that the crime was especially heinous, atrocious cruel, not heinous, or atrocious and cruel. It's disjunctive.

I honestly believe that cruel, in the meaning that we find it here in the infliction or the enjoyment of watching someone suffer through pain, may not be applicable here. Whatever type of In sum, the record shows the following: (1) Although defense counsel objected to both aggravating factors at the

mental suffering Nancy A. O'Farrell went through prior to ther death, whatever else you may think, may not find its way into the meaning of cruel in this sense, but I have no problem, Ladies and Gentlemen, with you[r] finding that the crime was heinous or atrocious. The how idea of taking someone's life merely because they can identify you is as shockingly wicked and vile and evil as anything you can imagine. You may find that it was cruel in the sense that it was pitiless. I would suggest, Ladies and Gentlemen, that you may very well find in your discretion that that aggravating circumstance is applicable here.

(OR 1461-62).

During closing arguments, the prosecutor argued as follows concerning CCP:

And, lastly, that the capital committed in a cold, felony was calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal Can you think of justification. circumstances, Ladies and Gentlemen, where they may be some pretense of moral justification or legal justification in a premeditated murder. I suppose you How about a hot-blooded murder as can. opposed to a cold-blooded murder, a crime of passion where tempers and emotions flare and, although you have your sanity about you, you're still in a moment of passion, decide I'm going to Is that what we have kill somebody. here? I would suggest that the evidence that we have in this case is that after the crimes had been committed an after the Defendant had finished his sport with Nancy A. O'Farrell he laid her out bed and in as cold and as on а calculated a manner as can be done, he

charge conference, he did so only on the ground that, based on the facts, they did not apply and that both factors were unconstitutional because they applied to all first degree murders; (2) although defense counsel objected to HAC in his written motion, he objected only on the grounds the circumstance applied to all capital felonies; and (3) defense counsel did not object to CCP at all in his written motion.

The most conspicuous absence from the record is an objection to the wording of the jury instructions concerning these two aggravating factors.³⁵ Thus, on the basis of <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993), <u>Melendez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 612 So. 2d 1366 (Fla. 1992), Kennedy v. Singletary,

> executed her. He assassinated her, and he knew what he was doing and he knew why he was doing it. I would suggest, Ladies and Gentlemen, that you may very well find that to be in your discretion an aggravating factor applicable to this case.

(OR 1462-63).

³⁵ The sentencing court instructed the jury on HAC: "Or, that the crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil. Atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile. Cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain, utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of others, or pitiless." (OR 1489-90). The sentencing court instructed the jury on CCP: "Or, the capital felony, homicide, was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification." (OR 1490).

602 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 1992), and Sochor v. State, 580 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1991), this issue is procedurally barred. Further, in Sochor v. Florida, 119 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1992), the United States Supreme Court expressly honored this procedural bar, thereby conclusively putting to rest any notion that this claim is fundamental in nature.

Should this Court disregard the bar, any error committed by the sentencing court on this point was harmless. There is no reasonable possibility that the giving of the challenged instructions contributed to the jury's recommendation of death. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Under any definitions of the terms, these aggravating factors were established beyond a reasonable doubt. Slawson v. State, 619 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1993); Thompson v. State, 619 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1993). The evidence in this case indicates that, during a burglary of her home, Lightbourne surprised the victim, forced her into acts of oral sex and intercourse as the victim begged him not to kill her. Lightbourne took the victim's money and necklace, and shot the victim because she could identify him, referring to the murder as "shooting a bitch" (OR 1176). Despite the victim's plea that he not kill her, Lightbourne fired a shot striking the victim on the left side of the head, causing her to bleed to death. The doctor who performed an autopsy on the victim testified that,

- 79 -

although the victim's pain would have ceased with her loss of consciousness, the track of the bullet into the victim's brain would not have caused an immediate loss of consciousness (OR 750). Compare Melendez v. State, 498 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 1986); Francois v. State, 407 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1981); Combs v. State, 403 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981); White v. State, 403 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1981); Hoy v. State, 353 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1978); Knight v. State, 338 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 1976).

Moreover, given that the three other aggravating circumstances were weighty -- murder committed during the course of a burglary and sexual battery; murder committed for witness elimination; and murder committed for pecuniary gain -- and the mitigation was weak -- age and no significant history of prior criminal activity, no reasonable possibility exists that the challenged instructions affected the jury's recommendation of death.³⁶ Compare Espinosa v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S470 (Fla. Sept. 2, 1993); Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1993).

Finally, if this Court were to invalidate these two aggravating factors, three strong, valid aggravating circumstances remain to be weighed against two weak

 $^{^{36}}$ The actual number of votes for and against the death sentence are unknown (OR 182, 1501-03).

mitigating circumstances. Beyond a reasonable doubt, it is clear that elimination of HAC and CCP would have made no difference in Lightbourne's sentence. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1993); <u>Maqueira v. State</u>, 588 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 112 S. Ct. 1961 (1992); <u>Capehart v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 112 S. Ct. 955 (1992); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988).

A number of the cases relied upon by Lightbourne simply do not stand for the propositions he asserts. Notably, Lightbourne claims that, in Porter v. State, 564 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1110 (1991), this Court held that the CCP instruction was vague, in that, without a narrowing construction, the aggravator failed to perform a genuine narrowing function. However, Porter actually holds that, since premeditation is already an element of capital murder, the term as used in section 921.141(5)(i) must have different meaning or it would apply to every premeditated Thus, this Court observed that the phrase murder. "heightened premeditation" was adopted to distinguish the CCP aggravator from the premeditation element of first degree murder.

Additionally, contrary to Lightbourne's assertion in note eight on page 68 of his brief, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Richmond v. Lewis</u>, 121 L. Ed. 2d 411

- 81 -

(1992), addressed only the weighing issue and never reached the issue of narrowing instruction: "[W]e need not decide whether the principal opinion in Richmond II remained within the constitutional boundaries of the (F)(6) factor." <u>Id.</u> at 423.³⁷ In any event, in <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, 113 S. Ct. 1619 (1993), and <u>Hall</u> <u>v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993), this Court has held that the new HAC narrowing instructions pass constitutional muster because they track the language of the June 1990 amendments to the standard jury instructions. **Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.)** <u>Penalty Proceedings -- Capital Cases</u> 79-79a (1990).³⁸

Lightbourne also claims that, because he can meet all of its prerequisites, he is entitled to the relief given in <u>James v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993). Lightbourne, however, conveniently overlooks the facts that James objected to then-standard instruction at trial, asked for an

³⁷ In Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1993), this Court discussed <u>Richmond</u>, concluding that all it required was a narrowing construction as accepted in <u>Sochor</u> v. Florida, 119 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1992). Because Florida had done so regarding the HAC instruction, this Court refused to find the narrowing language invalid.

³⁸ Thus, in cases where Florida's 1990 narrowing instructions are used, there is no <u>Shell v. Mississippi</u>, 498 U.S. 1 (1990), problem. There, the United States Supreme Court found the narrowing instruction constitutionally vague because its definitions were too vague to provide any guidance to sentencer. <u>Compare Atwater v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S496 (Fla. Sept. 16, 1993); <u>Foster v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1992).

expanded instruction, and argued on appeal against the constitutionality of the instruction his jury received. "Because of <u>this</u> it would not be fair to deprive him of the <u>Espinosa</u> ruling." <u>Id.</u> at 669 (emphasis supplied). It is quite evident that the "this" referred to by this Court is James's complete efforts at preservation. Lightbourne did none of "this." Likewise, in <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 1993), Hitchcock requested the expanded HAC instruction, objected when the sentencing court denied his request, and raised that precise issue on appeal.

Finally, Lightbourne claims that, to the extent that defense counsel may not have properly preserved this point for appellate review, he was ineffective. Brief at 91 n.13. In so arguing, Lightbourne apparently has forgotten that he raised the issue of the effectiveness of his trial counsel in his first postconviction motion. Thus, new claims of ineffectiveness are inappropriately raised in this appeal of Lightbourne's second and third from the denials postconviction motions, Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991); Spaziano v. State, 545 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1989), and are, in any event, timebarred by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.39 Although Espinosa issued in 1992, Espinosa was based on

³⁹ According to this Court in <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989), the ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase claim had been raised in Lightbourne's first postconviction motion and was procedurally barred by the time limits of rule 3.850.

<u>Maynard v. Cartwright</u>, 486 U.S. 256 (1988), which in turn was based on <u>Godfrey v. Georgia</u>, 446 U.S. 420 (1980). Because the <u>Godfrey</u> rationale existed in 1980, and Lightbourne's first postconviction motion was filed in May 1985, postconviction counsel could have raised this claim at that time.

Issue IV

WHETHER CONSIDERATION OF THE PRESENTENCE INVESTIGATION SOLELY BY THE SENTENCING COURT, AND NOT THE JURY, VIOLATED LIGHTBOURNE'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT MITIGATING EVIDENCE TO HIS JURY.

The first problem with this issue is the way that Lightbourne has phrased it in his brief. He claims that this Court erred in Lightbourne v. State, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985), in concluding that, because the sentencing court reviewed the presentence investigation report, the mitigation raised on appeal was cumulative. Lightbourne then claims that, based on this Court's error in its 1985 Lightbourne decision, this Court caused the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals to err in Lightbourne v. Dugger, 829 F.2d 1012 (11th Cir. 1987), and caused itself to err once again in Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989). Lightbourne raised this issue in his 1985 appeal from the denial of his first postconviction motion, and this Court ruled against him. Had Lightbourne wished to point out any alleged error in this Court's ruling, he could have moved for rehearing. Absent that, Lightbourne is not entitled to continue to challenge ad infinitum this Court's 1985 ruling. "Not only was this contention raised in Lightbourne's previous motion for postconviction relief, it is also procedurally barred by the time limits of rule 3.850." Id. at 1366.

In any event, Lightbourne contends that the jury, in addition to the sentencing court, should have been permitted to consider the mitigation presented in the presentence investigation report. Distilled, this claim replicates that raised in Lightbourne's petition for writ of habeas corpus filed in this Court, to which this Court responded:

> the outset, Lightbourne cites no At authority for the proposition that the presentence report is proper evidence to be submitted to the jury in a sentencing proceeding. addition, In the presentation of the evidence had already been concluded, and it was only after the jury had been instructed and the lawyers had made their closing arguments that defense counsel made the request. Finally, we note that there were certain portions of presentence the investigation that were unfavorable to Lightbourne Lightbourne, and that himself, had testified on some of the matters covered by the report.

Id. Again, because this claim was previously raised and addressed in Lightbourne's first two postconviction motions and in his habeas petition to this Court, any such claim here is successive and procedurally barred.

In apparent hopes of disguising this barred claim, however, Lightbourne casts it in the language of <u>Espinosa v</u>. <u>Florida</u>, 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992), and <u>Johnson v</u>. <u>Singletary</u>, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1993), claiming that, because the jury is a co-sentencer under Florida law, it must consider all the evidence considered by the sentencing court.40 Thus, Lightbourne claims that his death sentence is unconstitutional because the sentencing court did not permit the jury to consider the presentence investigation Once again, Lightbourne cites no supporting report. authority for his claim that the presentence report is proper evidence to be submitted to the jury. In fact, a presentence investigation report seems to be intended solely for use by the sentencing court, and is accessible to others only with specific authorization. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.712 & In any event, there is nothing improper in a 3.713. sentencing court's consideration of information not provided See Cochran v. State, 547 So. 2d 928, 931 to the jury. (Fla. 1989) ("Under our law, it was proper for the trial to take into consideration appellant's previous court conviction in the Arbelaez case, even though that conviction was not presented to the jury."); Engle v. State, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983) (the sentencing court "is not limited in sentencing to consideration of only that material put before the jury Prior cases make it clear that during sentencing, evidence may be presented as to any matters

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